IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC01-882

LOWER TRIBUNAL No. 83-8975 CF

GREGORY ALAN KOKAL,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

MICHAEL P. REITER
Capital Collateral Counsel
Northern Region
Florida Bar No. 0320234

LINDA McDERMOTT Assistant CCC-NR Florida Bar No. 0102857

OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL COLLATERAL COUNSEL 1533 S. Monroe Street Tallahassee, Florida 32301

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On October 20, 1983, Mr. Kokal was indicted and charged, along with co-defendant William O'Kelly, Jr., with the premeditated first-degree murder of Jeffrey Russell in Jacksonville, Florida. (R. 3).

Subsequently, Mr. Kokal was tried by a jury in the circuit court of the Fourth Judicial Circuit, in and for Duval County, Florida. Trial began on October 1, 1984 and on October 4, 1984, the jury found Mr. Kokal guilty of first-degree murder. (R. 228).

The penalty phase was held on October 12, 1984, and on that same day the jury returned a recommendation of death. (R. 236).

On November 14, 1984, the trial judge sentenced Mr. Kokal to death. (R. 224-258). This Court affirmed Mr. Kokal's conviction and sentence. Kokal v. State, 492 So. 2d 1317 (Fla. 1986).

Under Florida law, Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850, Mr. Kokal's motion for postconviction relief was due on October 20, 1988, however, former Governor Martinez signed a death warrant on Mr. Kokal forcing Mr. Kokal to file his postconviction pleadings before the two-year time limit provided for by then existing Rule 3.851.

Mr. Kokal's Rule 3.850 and state habeas pleadings were timely filed and Mr. Kokal requested the circuit court to stay his execution. Mr. Kokal also moved to compel public records disclosure from the Office of State Attorney for the Fourth Judicial Circuit.

In October, 1988, the circuit court stayed the execution date and granted Mr. Kokal's motion to compel.

Thereafter, the State appealed the circuit court's order to compel disclosure of public records to the First District Court of Appeals. The First District Court of Appeals transferred jurisdiction to this Court which affirmed the circuit court's order in its opinion of April 19, 1990. State v. Kokal, 562 So. 2d 324 (Fla. 1990).

Mr. Kokal filed an Amended Rule 3.850 on May 18, 1992. (PC-R2., 1-219)

In 1996, the Office of the Capital Collateral Representative (CCR), which had represented Mr. Kokal since 1988, became involved in a conflict situation that impacted Mr. Kokal's defense. Counsel assigned to Mr. Kokal therefore withdrew from Mr. Kokal's representation and private counsel, Jefferson W. Morrow, was appointed to represent Mr. Kokal in his postconviction appeals.

On February 11-12, 1997, a limited evidentiary hearing was held regarding trial counsel's ineffectiveness. (PC-R2.309-720). The circuit court denied all relief on April 14, 1997. (PC-R2. 296-307).

Mr. Kokal appealed the denial to this Court. This Court affirmed the circuit court's order. <u>Kokal v. State</u>, 718 So. 2d 138 (Fla. 1998).

In March, 1999, Mr. Kokal was appointed counsel by the federal district court to prepare his petition for writ of habeas corpus.

The federal district court also granted funds for investigative assistance. It was through the grant of funds for investigative assistance that the newly discovered evidence at issue became known.

On or about August 12, 1999, Mr. Kokal filed a <u>pro se</u> Rule 3.850 motion alleging newly discovered evidence of innocence. (PC-R3.1-57). In his pleading and by separate motion, Mr. Kokal requested that the trial court appoint counsel to represent him. (PC-R3.4, 62-66).

On September 28, 1999, the circuit court appointed the Office of the Capital Collateral Regional Counsel for the Middle Region (CCC-MR) to represent Mr. Kokal. (PC-R3. 90-91). Thereafter, CCC-MR filed a motion requesting that the court transfer the case to the Northern Region, due to the fact that the Middle Region was experiencing difficulties in staffing and was transferring cases to Registry counsel. (PC-R3. 96-101). The court granted the motion and appointed the Office of the Capital Collateral Counsel for the Northern Region (CCC-NR).

On October 1, 1999, the court ordered the State to respond to Mr. Kokal's <u>pro</u> <u>se</u> Rule 3.850 motion. (PC-R3. 94-95). The State responded on October 18, 1999. (PC-R3. 105-116).

On April 3, 2000, CCC-NR filed an amended Rule 3.850 motion. (PC-R3. 152-224).

An incomplete <u>Huff</u> hearing was held on April 6, 2000. (PC-R3. 420-458). On the day of the <u>Huff</u> hearing, Mr. Kokal filed a Motion to Disqualify Judge and Supporting Memorandum of Law, based on the fact that Judge Carithers presided over the postconviction proceedings in <u>Kight v. State</u>, Duval County Case. No. 83-2598CFB. (PC-R3. 225-236). At the April 6th hearing, Judge Carithers stated that he would disqualify himself if he determined that an evidentiary hearing was necessary. (PC-R3. 425, 430, 431, 432, 433-434). Thus, Judge Carithers believed that he could rule on the necessity of having a hearing on the newly discovered evidence claim prior to determining whether he should disqualify himself. Judge Carithers directed the parties to proceed with their argument as to the newly discovered evidence claim and indicated that he would bifurcate the <u>Huff</u> hearing as to the other claims in Mr. Kokal's amended Rule 3.850 motion. (PC-R3. 434).

Following the April 6th hearing, the parties submitted memorandum on the disqualification issue and the standard for granting an evidentiary hearing. (PC-R3. 243-252; 254-260).

On June 30, 2000, the circuit court denied Mr. Kokal's motion to disqualify. (PC-R3. 261-262).

Huff v. State, 622 So. 2d 982 (Fla. 1993).

On September 12, 2000, the circuit court held a <u>Huff</u> hearing on claims two, three and four of Mr. Kokal's amended Rule 3.850 motion. (PC-R3. 459-506).

On October 3, 2000, the circuit court granted Mr. Kokal an evidentiary hearing on his newly discovered evidence claim and denied his other claims. (PC-R3. 265-267). The hearing was held on October 31, 2000 (PC-R3. 507-576), and written closing arguments were submitted in February, 2001. (PC-R3. 336-365; 366-370).

The circuit court denied relief on Mr. Kokal's newly discovered evidence claim on February 12, 2001. (PC-R3. 371-378).

Mr. Kokal filed a Motion for Rehearing that was denied on March 2, 2001. (PC-R3. 387-388).

Mr. Kokal timel<u>s TaiTement norting of Acaps</u>peal. (PC-R3. 389-390).

THE TRIAL

On October 20, 1983, Mr. Kokal was indicted and charged, along with co-defendant William O'Kelly, Jr., with the premeditated first-degree murder of Jeffrey Russell in Jacksonville, Florida. (R. 3). Mr. O'Kelly was represented by the Public Defender's Office, while Mr. Kokal was represented by private counsel, Dale Westling.

On February 18, 1984, after having filed no pre-trial motions on Mr. Kokal's behalf, Mr. Westling filed a motion to adopt the motions filed on behalf of Mr. O'Kelly. (R. 118). In fact, Mr. Westling filed the motions with Mr. O'Kelly's name crossed out of the

caption, but failed to change his name in the text of the motions.

(See R. 14-17, 18-19, 20-40, 41, 42-44, 45-47, 48-51, 52-80, 81-83, 84-86, 87-89, 90, 91-95, 96-97, 98-99, 100-103, 104-110).

On March 15, 1984, Mr. Westling filed a motion requesting that the trial court sever Mr. Kokal and Mr. O'Kelly's cases. (R. 187). The motion was granted. (R. 188).

On March 23, 1984, approximately six months prior to Mr.

Kokal's capital trial, co-defendant O'Kelly executed a document entitled "Plea of Guilty - Negotiated Sentence" wherein he agreed to plead to the lesser included offense of Second Degree Murder upon the understanding that prosecutors would recommend a sentence "in accordance with the sentencing guidelines" (12 to 17 years). In exchange for the plea, the State of Florida required that Mr. O'Kelly "testify truthfully" against Mr. Kokal. This was defined as testifying "in agreement with those prior consistent statements" given to detectives and a prosecutor. Further, "any breach of [the] agreement" by Mr. O'Kelly would "result in the setting aside of the plea" and prosecution for the indicted capital offense.

On April 24, 1984, Mr. Westling filed a Motion for Production of Correspondence. (R. 193). Mr. Westling was seeking to retrieve a letter written by Mr. O'Kelly to Mr. Kokal in which Mr. O'Kelly asked Mr. Kokal: "What do you want me to say?" (Id.). The letter had been

confiscated from Mr. Kokal's jail cell by the Duval County Sheriff's Office. (Id.).

On April 30, 1984, Mr. Kokal filed a motion to suppress the items obtained from Mr. O'Kelly's truck. (R. 194-195). The motion was heard on May 9, 1984. At the hearing, Mr. Kokal testified that the truck was registered to Mr. O'Kelly (T. 23). Officer David Mahn testified that he retrieved a firearm from beneath the driver's seat in the truck. (T. 36). Further, conflicting testimony was elicited regarding the location of the identification and wallets that were seized: Officer Mahn testified that Mr. Kokal produced the victim's identification from his pocket (T. 36), while Dena McKelly, a witness to the arrest and search, testified that she believed the officer seized the identification from the truck. (T. 49, 52-55). The trial judge denied the motion. (T. 100).

On July 25, 1984, Mr. Westling requested that the court appoint an expert to perform a psychiatric exam of Mr. Kokal. (R. 205-206). In his motion, trial counsel indicated that Mr. Kokal has previously received psychological care. (<u>Id</u>.). Over a month and a half later, on September 17, 1984, the court appointed Dr. Joseph Virzi to conduct an evaluation with Mr. Kokal (R. 207); the order was entered approximately two weeks before Mr. Kokal's trial commenced.

The guilt-innocence phase of Mr. Kokal's trial occurred October The State's case consisted of the following evidence: Tire track impressions near the scene of the crime were consistent with the tires on Mr. O'Kelly's truck (T. 607). impressions near the scene of the crime were consistent with Nike shoes owned by Mr. Kokal and Pro-Wing shoes owned by Mr. O'Kelly (T.614, 616), -- the examination of the impressions and the shoes was only limited to characteristics of the design, i.e. no class characteristics were observed. (T.614). A fingerprint identified as Mr. Kokal's was located on the cylinder of the firearm that belonged to Mr. O'Kelly, and on the end flap of the shell box. (T. 619-620). Mr. Kokal's fingerprints were not found on the victim's identification, the victim's wallet, the pool cue, or any other items introduced into evidence, other than a cigarette pack seized from Mr. O'Kelly's truck. (T. 626-627). A small bloodstain on the tongue of the left Nike shoe was typed and found to be type B, the same blood type as the victim.² (T. 637). No evidence was produced as to Mr. Kokal's blood type or whether or not Mr. O'Kelly's shoes exhibited any bloodstains. A firearms expert testified that the firearm seized

 $^{^2\,}$ In 2000, Mr. Kokal requested that he be allowed to conduct DNA testing on the left Nike shoe in order to determine if the blood found on the shoe was in fact the victim's. (PC-R3. 237-242). At the December 15, 2000, hearing, the State represented to the lower court that the blood sample obtained from the victim was destroyed and therefore there was no comparison available for testing. (PC-R3. 583).

from Mr. O'Kelly's truck fired the bullet retrieved from the victim's shoulder. (R. 648).

The State's physical evidence linking Mr. Kokal to the homicide was circumstantial and consistent with Mr. Kokal's testimony.

The State also presented the testimony of Eugene Mosley. Mr. Mosley testified that he spoke to Mr. Kokal on September 30, 1983, and on that evening, Mr. Kokal told him: "that they had -- he killed a guy." (T. 551). Mr. Mosley did not know many details of the crime, but testified that Mr. Kokal told him that after exiting the car at Hanna Park, he and Mr. O'Kelly beat the victim and Mr. Kokal shot the victim. (R. 552). Mr. Mosley also testified that Mr. Kokal stated: "dead men can't tell lies." (R. 554).

On cross-examination, Mr. Mosley admitted that Mr. Kokal was intoxicated during the conversation. (T. 558). Mr. Mosley also admitted that during his deposition he attributed many of the actions Mr. Kokal allegedly discussed with him to both Mr. O'Kelly and Mr. Kokal, i.e., using the words "we" and "they". (T. 561). Mr. Mosley's explanation for the change in his testimony was that he "wasn't sure of the questions you were asking me. I had never gone through it before and I didn't know how to answer it." (Id.). However, Mr. Kokal's trial attorney did not impeach Mr. Mosley with the inconsistencies between his statement and the physical evidence.

After the State rested its case, Mr. Kokal's trial attorney presented an opening statement in which he told the jury: "We do not quarrel with, as you will see, with any of the fingerprints, blood samples, pistol, firearm." (T. 681). Mr. Westling then proceeded to inform the jury about the testimony they would hear from Mr. Kokal. (T. 683-689).

Mr. Westling called Mr. O'Kelly to testify. The sole purpose of calling Mr. O'Kelly to testify appeared to be so that Mr. Westling could introduce a letter written by Mr. O'Kelly in November 1983 in which Mr. O'Kelly explained that he shot the victim, but the shooting was an accident. (R. 692). On cross examination, Mr. O'Kelly read the letter to the jury:

On Thursday, September 29, 1983, I William Robert O'Kelly, Jr., and my partner, Gregory Alan Kokal, decided to go to the beach to see the ocean and to party. Greg being from Jacksonville said he knew a nice place where we could drive right up on the beach. The place is called Hanna Park. I was already pretty loaded from drinking and smoking some pot. When we got to the park the gates were already open, so we drove in.

Greg was driving as I was drinking more than him, and I thought it would be better if Greg drove. We drove to where we could drive up on the beach, but instead, we parked the truck up on the black top because we didn't want to get it stuck in the sand.

Greg shut the engine off and we got out to take a leak. Then, I told Greg let's shoot off soda water caps. We had about one gross of them that he got out in Arizona. When we got out I decided to take my .357 revolver out from

underneath the seat and do some target practice.

There was what I thought to be driftwood or an old sack about a hundred and fifty feet down towards the water. I shot five rounds the first time because I always keep the hammer on the empty chamber when it's not in use.

Greg and I then went to the wood or sack and discovered that it wasn't what we thought it to be, but the body of a young man. As I was walking down to the wood I had the hammer of my gun cocked and aimed at the wood at about two feet away. I accidentally pulled the trigger and shot the body in the head.

I don't know why I did this because I never intentionally would shoot anyone unless it was in self defense. Then, Greg asked me what the hell did you do that for? I replied I don't know, I guess I was holding the trigger too tight. Then, he reached down to see if he was still alive. By this time I was still sober so I tried to get his pulse but his arm was cold and his driver's license was laying in the sand next to him and I picked it up and put it in my pocket.

There were pieces of what looked like the cue stick also laying in the sand that we both picked up. Then, I told Greg let's get the f**k out of here, so we threw down the cue stick pieces and ran up to the truck, got in and drove off. We decided to go and report it to the police, but then we thought it would look like we killed him and decided to just go home. I, William Robert O'Kelly, Jr., do solemnly swear as God is my witness that the above statement is true and to the best of my knowledge exactly as it happened in Hanna Park late night and early morning of September 29 and 30.

(T. 697-699). Mr. O'Kelly told the jury that the letter was intended to get him and Mr. Kokal "off the hook". (T. 699). Mr. O'Kelly then relayed to the jury his version of events, which completely

exonerated him and inculpated Mr. Kokal. (T. 702-706). Mr. O'Kelly's version of events also differed from the alleged statement that Mr. Kokal made to Mr. Mosley.

Mr. Westling called Mr. Kokal to testify. Mr. Kokal testified that Mr. O'Kelly was the triggerman. Mr. Kokal testified:

Q: (By Mr. Westling) Let's go to that night, the night Mr. Russell was killed. On that day, during about what time you got up (sic) based upon your usual habits?

A: About 2:00 o'clock.

Q: What did you do with the rest of the afternoon?

A: I drank and smoked.

Q: Where did you do that?

A: Out in the backyard, in the garage of the house.

Q: Was Mr. O'Kelly doing that with you?

A: Yes, sir.

Q: What did you and Mr. O'Kelly do that evening, and let's begin with the early -- first off, did you stay at the house all night or did you leave?

A: We left the house.

Q: About what time did you leave the house?

A: About 11:00 or 12:00 at night.

Q: Where did you go when you left the house? What was the intent?

A: Well, Mr. O'Kelly wanted to see the beach, the Atlantic Ocean. He had never seen it and we intended to go to the beach.

Q: All right. And who was driving the truck?

A: Me.

Q: Now, why were you going to drive?

A: Because I knew the area, I knew where I was going.

Q: All right. Now, did you all have any liquor with you when you left your mom's residence?

A: Well, no, we stopped on the way to the beach and got a bottle.

O: A bottle of what?

A: Of rum, Bicardi.

* * *

Q: That evening, two or three hours, whatever, after you left your mother's house, did you all ever pick anybody up?

A: Yes, sir.

* * *

Q: Did you take the hitchhiker to Mayport?

A: No, sir.

Q: Where did you all go?

A: We went down -- we were heading towards the Naval Base and we asked him if he smoked pot and the guy said yes, and so we asked him if he wanted to smoke some and he

said yes. So, we agreed that we'd go down to Hanna Park because it was a nice section of the beach and it was on the way. It was pretty isolated at night.

Q: Why did you want to go there?

 $\mbox{\ensuremath{\mathtt{A}}\xspace}\colon$ To get high, to drink and listen to music.

* * *

- Q: Now, you left off, you stopped the truck, what did you do after you parked the truck?
 - A: I got out to go to the bathroom.
- Q: Okay. Let me ask you where were you sitting? Well, obviously the driver's side. Where was Mr. O'Kelly sitting?
- A: He was sitting on the passenger's side of the truck.
- $\ensuremath{\text{Q}}\xspace$ All right. And where was Mr. Russell sitting?
 - A: In the center of the truck.
- Q: Now, you got out and you went to the bathroom. What happened next? What did you do next Mr. Kokal?
- A: Well, I used the bathroom on the beach.
- Q: Okay. When you got done using the bathroom, what did you do?
- A: I walked around to the back of the truck.
- Q: Did you go around the back or the front?

A: Around the back of the truck.

Q: All right. And what if anything unusual did you observe as you got around the back of the truck?

A: I observed Mr. O'Kelly holding his pistol in the guy's face.

Q: How far apart were they from each other?

A: A couple of feet, just right --

* * *

Q: How would you describe your condition as far as intoxication is concerned? Look back and try to remember.

A: Pretty drunk.

Q: Had you also used marijuana that evening?

A: Yes, quite stoned and drunk; I was feeling pretty good.

Q: All right. Now, when you saw that pistol in his face, when you saw Bill holding that pistol, did you run?

A: No, sir.

Q: Why didn't you turn around and run?

A: Because I was scared.

* * *

Q: All right. Now, what happened next, if anything, after you saw Mr. O'Kelly with the pistol in the face of this boy, this young boy that you all had picked up? What if anything did Mr. O'Kelly do next?

A: He told the guy to turn around.

Q: Did the guy turn around?

A: Yes.

Q: Then what happened?

A: Then he hit the guy in the back of the head with the gun?

* * *

Q: What did Mr. O'Kelly do after he hit the man in the back of the head with the revolver?

A: He told the guy to put his hands on the truck.

Q: Did the guy do that?

A: Yes.

Q: All right. Had you said anything? Now we're going to go step by step. Had you said anything up to this point to Mr. Russell from the time that you saw the pistol until the time that he was struck in the head?

A: No, sir.

Q: Had you said anything to Mr. O'Kelly?

A: No.

Q: Why didn't you ask him to stop?

A: I didn't, just didn't ask him. I was scared of him.

Q: Did the man put his arms on the truck?

A: Yes, he did.

Q: What if anything did Mr. O'Kelly do then?

A: He stuck his pistol in his pants.

O: And then what?

A: And then he reached in the guy's back pocket and took his wallet.

Q: What did O'Kelly do with the wallet?

A: Put the wallet in the truck.

Q: Where did he put it in the truck, do you know?

A: On the dashboard.

Q: What did O'Kelly do then?

A: Grabbed a pool cue off of the dashboard.

* * *

A: He walked out behind the guy and then hit him over the head with a pool cue.

* * *

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