## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

GREGORY ALLEN KOKAL,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SCO1-882

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

\_\_\_\_/

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, FLORIDA

## ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CURTIS M. FRENCH SENIOR ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 291692

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

##

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

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

There are three issues on appeal:

1. Kokal's motion to disgualify Judge Carithers on the ground that he had presided over the Kight hearing, which Kokal filed minutes before a scheduled <u>Huff</u> hearing, and more than five months after Kokal was expressly put on notice that Judge Carithers had presided over the Kight hearing, was untimely. Moreover, it was meritless, especially considering that it was not an initial motion to disqualify and Judge Carithers was a successor judge. At bottom, Kokal's only argument is that Judge Carithers cannot preside over separate hearings involving the same two dueling co-defendants. But judges cannot be disqualified from a case just because it involves someone they know about from another case. Judges see defendants, witnesses, and attorneys more than once, and sometimes again and again. That fact alone does not disqualify them, and nothing requires that each case have an entirely new cast of characters.

2. In reviewing a postconviction defendant's claim that he has uncovered new evidence that he is innocent, it is perfectly proper to take into consideration prior testimony that the defendant confessed in great detail to his trial attorney. The attorney-client privilege, once waived, cannot be reasserted after communications have been publicly disclosed. Furthermore,

regardless of the admissibility of such communications at any retrial, it would be inequitable for a defendant to demand that we disregard a prior confession when evaluating his claim of newly discovered evidence of innocence. Kokal did not attempt to discredit his confession to his trial attorney, and Judge Carithers correctly determined that Kokal has no right to ask us to ignore it.

Furthermore, the Judge Carithers was justified in concluding from all the circumstances that Hutto had come forward more than 15 years after trial only in retaliation for O'Kelly's testimony against him at the Kight hearing, that Hutto's testimony was "highly impeachable" for a variety of reasons, and that, even without any consideration of Kokal's confession to his trial attorney, Kokal's new evidence failed to create any reasonable doubt about who shot and killed the victim in this case.

3. Kokal's claim of ineffective assistance of postconviction counsel at the prior proceedings was properly denied summarily. Such a claim does not state a valid basis for relief.

### <u>ARGUMENT</u>

### ISSUE I

# JUDGE CARITHERS CORRECTLY DENIED KOKAL'S UNTIMELY AND COMPLETELY MERITLESS MOTION TO RECUSE

As set out in the Statement of Facts, Kokal filed a motion to recuse Judge Carithers a few minutes before a scheduled April 3, 2000 <u>Huff</u> hearing on a 3.850 motion containing a claim of newly discovered evidence from Gary Hutto that, although subsequently amended, had been pending in circuit court since August 16, 1999 - almost eight months. The alleged ground for the recusal was that Judge Carithers had presided over the January 1999 Kight evidentiary hearing at which William O'Kelly had testified about statements that Gary Hutto allegedly made to him. It is the State's position that Judge Carithers properly denied the motion to disqualify because it was both untimely and legally insufficient.

The motion was untimely. Motions to recuse a judge are untimely unless filed within a reasonable time not to exceed 10 days of the discovery of the facts constituting the grounds for recusal. Fla. R. Jud. Admin. 2.160(e). In this case, the asserted ground of recusal - that Judge Carithers had presided over the January 1999 Kight evidentiary hearing - has existed the entire time that Kokal's newly-discovered evidence claim has

been pending in circuit court. In fact, Kokal claimed to have learned of Hutto as the result of O'Kelly's testimony at the Kight hearing, stating in Claim I of his motion that: "In early 1999, a hearing was held in a case **Kight v. State** which had as a witness, Mr. Bill O'Kelly, the co-defendant in Mr. Kokal's case and the man Mr. Kokal always claimed was actually the one who murdered the victim" (1R 4)(emphasis in original). Kokal has not explained why he would have known about this hearing but would not have known or bothered to find out that the same judge presided over it. But even if he were not on notice then, the State's October 18, 1999 written response to the motion made specific reference to that fact that Judge Carithers had presided over the Kight hearing, stating, at page 4:

[Kokal] contends that he has now learned that [his] codefendant William O'Kelly confessed to Gary Hutto while both of them were jailed together before trial. Kokal claims to have become aware of Hutto as the result of O'Kelly's testimony in a hearing before this Court earlier this year in the case of <u>Kight v. State</u>, which, coincidentally, was heard before this very Court.

(1R 108) (emphasis supplied). Thus, Kokal was on specific notice from October 18, 1999 at the very latest that Judge Carithers had presided over the Kight hearing. Yet, he did not file his motion to recuse Judge Carithers until April 6, 2000 more than 5 ½ months later. Kokal can present no reasonable

excuse for having waited so long to file a motion recuse Judge Carithers, and his motion must be deemed untimely.

Kokal argues, however, that Judge Carithers' "finding that the motion may have been 'untimely' is not supported by the record or Judge Carithers' remarks at the April 6th hearing." Initial Brief at 43. However, Kokal does not dispute that his postconviction counsel was in possession of the State's response; he merely offers the excuse that his counsel was just too busy to read it - for over five months. If this is a valid excuse for ignoring the time limits for filing a motion to recuse, those time limits might as well be abolished.<sup>15</sup> As for the statements Judge Carithers made at the aborted <u>Huff</u> hearing minutes after Kokal filed his motion, upon which Kokal so heavily relies, the fact remains that, regardless of what Judge Carithers' initial off-the-cuff reaction might have been, after being reminded by the State that it had disclosed to Kokal the grounds for his disqualification motion some five months previously, Judge Carithers called for written briefs on this

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> The rule contains no express requirement that counsel exercise diligence in learning of the grounds for recusal, but surely defense counsel cannot be allowed to claim ignorance of the grounds for recusal when he is in actual possession of a document containing that very information for over five months. <u>Cf. Garcia v. I.N.S.</u>, 222 F.3d 1208 (9<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2000) (proof that written notice was served on attorney of record is sufficient to rebut claim that party received inadequate notice).

issue and, after considering these briefs, Judge Carithers issued a written order stating, inter alia, that the facts constituting the grounds for the motion were in possession of Defendant's counsel since at least October, 1999 [and] [t]he recusal motion was not filed until April, 2000" (2R 261). This factual determination is supported by the record and must be given deference. Giving those facts the deference they deserve, it must be concluded that the motion to recuse was not timely filed.<sup>16</sup>

The motion is meritless. Kokal again attempts to rely upon Judge Carithers' comments at the aborted <u>Huff</u> hearing suggesting that he would "probably" conclude that the motion to recuse was well-founded if he were to decide that an evidentiary hearing were necessary. Of course, Judge Carithers made those comments less than 30 minutes after he and the State were served with copies of the motion, and neither he nor the State had had the time to research case law nor examine the state of the record. In fact, although Kokal failed to acknowledge it in his motion,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> The State is unaware of any Florida case explicitly stating the standard of review of the question whether a motion to recuse was timely filed. The State would suggest that once it is determined that counsel was put on explicit notice of the ground of recusal by the written response of the State, but fails to file a motion to recuse for over five months after receiving the State's written response, the defense cannot excuse the delay by defense counsel's failure to read the State's response; the motion is untimely as a matter of law.

this was not his first motion to recuse. There had been previous motions to recuse (at least one of which was granted), and Judge Carithers was at least the fourth judge assigned to this case.<sup>17</sup> This is important, because different standards apply to successive motions to disqualify than to initial such motions. Fla. R. Jud. Admin. 2.160(f) and (q); Card v. State, 26 Fla. L. Weekly S670 (Fla. Oct. 11, 2001). In an initial motion, the judge must accept as true the facts alleged in the motion, so long as they are sufficiently definite and particular and not conclusory or based upon opinion or rumor. Barwick v. State, 660 So.2d 685 (Fla. 1995)("A legally sufficient motion for disqualification cannot be based upon rumors or gossip"); J&J Industries v. Carpet Showcase of Tampa Bay, Inc, 723 So.2d 281, 282 (Fla. 2<sup>nd</sup> DCA 1998) (conclusory allegations are insufficient to establish a legally sufficient basis for disqualification). A successor judge, on the other hand, may "pass on the truth of the facts alleged in support of the motion and need only be disqualified if "he or she is in fact not fair or impartial." Card, supra (quoting section (f) of the rule).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> On May 8, 1992, Kokal successfully moved to disqualify Judge Wiggins from presiding over Kokal's first postconviction proceedings. See page 99-100, record on appeal, Case No. 93-111794. Thereafter, Kokal unsuccessfully moved to disqualify Judge Foster. <u>Ibid</u>. Judge Bowden later was assigned to this case, and he recused himself.

What Kokal is in essence trying to do is say that once Judge Carithers indicated preliminarily that he thought the motion might be well taken if an evidentiary hearing were necessary, he was then governed by the general rule that, having determined the grounds of the motion were legally sufficient, a judge must immediately take himself off the case - no matter that Judge Carithers' comments were a preliminary response to a motion that had been served on the court and the parties only minutes earlier, no matter that his comments were not only preliminary but conditional, no matter that the motion was legally insufficient despite what the judge may initially have thought, no matter that the motion failed to acknowledge that this was a successive motion to recuse, and no matter that because the judge was in fact a successor judge he was entitled to go beyond the initial question of the bare legal sufficiency of the allegations.

After being informed that this was a successive motion to recuse, Judge Carithers reviewed the matter pursuant to the proper standard and (1) determined that he was, and would remain, "an impartial arbitrator" in these proceedings, and (2) found "not true" the allegations that he could not be impartial

because of the testimony of William O'Kelly (2R 262). This ruling was not error.  $^{18}$ 

Kokal's allegations would in fact be legally insufficient even if this were an initial motion to recuse. All Kokal alleges as to bias is that, in the Kight case, Judge Carithers had made some determination of the credibility of William O'Kelly, and of the degree of Hutto's guilt. This simply is not a legally sufficient ground for recusal. E.g., <u>Jackson v.</u> State, 599 So.2d 103, 107 (Fla. 1992) (fact that judge has previously made adverse rulings not adequate ground for recusal; fact that judge has previously heard the evidence not a legally sufficient basis for recusal; allegation that judge has formed a fixed opinion of the defendant's guilt insufficient to mandate disqualification). The State would note that if Kokal's allegation are a valid basis for recusal, the judge who presided over a defendant's trial and sentenced him to death could never

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> In <u>Sume v. State</u>, 773 So.2d 600, 602 (Fla. 1<sup>st</sup> DCA 2000), it is suggested that denials of motions to disqualify are reviewed de novo. However, that court was addressing an initial motion to recuse, in which the facts are assumed to be true and the only question is whether those facts present a legally sufficient basis for recusal. That is not the case here. Moreover, this Court has reviewed the denial of a motion to disqualify under the abuse of discretion standard. <u>Arbalaez v.</u> <u>State</u>, 775 So.2d 1909 (Fla. 2000). Especially given the nature of the trial court's decision in resolving a successive motion to disqualify, the State would suggest that the abuse of discretion standard should apply.

preside over any of that same defendant's postconviction proceedings, and that certainly is not the law.

Kokal's motion to recuse is both untimely and, especially considering that it is a successive motion, meritless. Judge Carithers correctly denied the motion to disqualify him.

## ISSUE II

# JUDGE CARITHERS CORRECTLY DENIED RELIEF ON KOKAL'S CLAIM OF NEWLY DISCOVERED EVIDENCE OF INNOCENCE

Kokal argues that Judge Carithers' order denying relief is erroneous for three reasons: (1) in evaluating Kokal's alleged newly discovered evidence of innocence, Judge Carithers took into consideration that Kokal had confessed in great detail to his own attorney; (2) Judge Carithers found that Hutto was not a very credible witness; and (3) Judge Carithers failed to consider whether or not Kokal's newly discovered evidence probably would result in a different sentence. The State will address these arguments in order.

(1) The fact that Kokal has confessed in great detail to his own attorney may be considered in determining whether or not he has proffered a plausible claim of actual innocence. At the outset, it is important to consider the nature of a postconviction claim of actual innocence and why we allow defendants to raise such a claim on postconviction. A

postconviction defendant making a claim of actual innocence does not claim that some constitutional error infected his trial, or that the evidenced presented was constitutionally insufficient to convict him. What such a defendant contends is that despite the constitutional validity of his trial, evidence discovered afterward indicates that justice was "thwarted" because he is in fact innocent. Indeed, this Court established the present standard for evaluating claims of newly-discovered evidence of innocence because it concluded that the former standard presented the risk of "thwarting justice in a given case." Jones v. State, 591 So.2d 911, 915 (Fla. 1991).

This Court's previous decisions in this case establish that Kokal was convicted and sentenced based on legally sufficient evidence in a proceeding that was free from constitutional error. Nevertheless, Kokal, insists that the State be required to prove his guilt all over again in a new trial without regard to any likelihood that justice was thwarted by the conviction of an innocent person. Despite his insistence on a "cumulative" review of all the evidence presented at trial and since, Kokal insists that we just ignore his detailed confession to his own attorney. In effect, Kokal demands that we consider evidence discovered after trial only if it is favorable to him, but not otherwise, and especially if it further inculpates him or if it

proves just how right the jury was to convict him in the first place. This is no proper way to evaluate whether or not an error-free trial must be set aside.

noted in the Statement of Facts, and as As Kokal acknowledges, in his previous 3.850 motion Kokal raised an issue of ineffectiveness of trial counsel Dale Westling. Kokal further acknowledges that filing such a motion effectively waives his attorney client privilege, although he contends that Finally, Kokal such a waiver is a "limited" waiver. acknowledges, as he must, that Westling testified at the IAC hearing that Kokal had confessed to committing the murder of which he was thereafter found guilty. Westling testified that Kokal not only confessed, but did so with great specificity, that his description of the crime was perfectly consistent with the physical evidence, and that the confession was "chilling" in its lack of any remorse.

The presentation of Westling's testimony at the prior hearing was of course perfectly appropriate. In the seminal case of ineffective assistance of counsel, the United States Supreme Court counseled us that:

The reasonableness of counsel's actions may be determined or substantially influenced by the defendant's own statements or actions. Counsel's actions are usually based, quite properly, on informed strategic choices made by the defendant and on information supplied by the defendant. In particular,

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